Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-5-2014

Campbell v. Parkway Surgery Center, LLC Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42173

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case

This case stems from an employment offer made by Parkway Surgical Center, LLC ("Parkway") to Michelle Campbell ("Campbell"). Parkway hired Campbell on approximately May 27, 2003. As part of the offer of employment, Parkway represented to Campbell that it would "take care of" a monetary obligation Campbell may have had with her previous employer, Bingham Memorial Hospital ("BMH"). Campbell then worked for Parkway for approximately 2 years. Campbell was never pursued by BMH for her obligation to BMH, and has neither paid nor lost anything as a result of that potential obligation to BMH. More importantly, it has never been adjudicated that an obligation by Campbell to BMH even exists.

Campbell sued Parkway for breach of contract, and prevailed at the Magistrate Court before Judge Robert C. Brower.¹ On appeal, the District Court (Judge Darren B. Simpson, presiding) reformed Judge Brower's breach of contract decision, finding that Campbell had not suffered an economic injury – a prerequisite to a breach of contract claim. However, the District Court imposed a new remedy, specific performance, which Campbell had previously abandoned by failing to present evidence at trial or argument or authority on appeal to the District Court. The District Court upheld Judge Brower's

¹ Since this case was appealed to the Supreme Court, Judge Brower passed away from a long-standing fight with cancer.

other findings dismissing Campbell's remaining claims. Parkway now appeals the portion of the District Court's decision which imposed the specific performance remedy, as well as certain other aspects of the District Court's decision.

2. Course of Proceedings Below

Campbell brought action against Parkway on October 14, 2005, alleging breach of contract and seeking an award of money damages. (R. p. 15-19.) The Complaint was amended twice with the Second Amended Complaint adding causes of action for declaratory judgment, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, constructive fraud, tortious interference with contract. (R. p. 54-62.)

A bench trial was conducted on July 25, 2012, in the Magistrates Division of the Seventh Judicial District Court, in Bingham County. (R. p. 86.) Throughout the trial, Campbell prosecuted the case as a breach of contract case and sought contractual damages for herself. At the conclusion of the trial, the trial judge held that Parkway was in breach of the oral contract, awarded contractual damages in the amount of \$6,800.00 to Campbell, and awarded Campbell attorney's fees and costs. (R. p. 89.) Campbell drafted the Judgment. (R. p. 91-96, 101-05.) Parkway subsequently appealed the decision to the District Court alleging that Campbell could not obtain contract damages where there was no injury. (R. p. 105-08; 127-44.) The District Court heard oral argument on the matter, but remanded the matter back to the Magistrate Division of the

District Court for additional findings as to Campbell's claims of breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, constructive fraud, and tortious interference with contract. (R. p. 196-99.) Thereafter, the Magistrate Division of the District Court entered Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R. p. 202-07.) The Magistrate Judge found in favor of Parkway on all the remaining causes of action. (*Id.*) Campbell subsequently Cross-Appealed the Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R. p. 212-15.)

On April 16, 2014, the District Court issued its Decision and Order on Appeal. (R. p. 210-54.) The District Court's Decision and Order on Appeal concluded that Campbell could not obtain contract damages where there was no injury (as argued by Parkway), holding "Campbell is not entitled to a direct money judgment against Parkway" (R. p. 237.) Instead, the District Court held that Campbell's claim for declaratory judgment was a claim for specific performance (R. p. 236), despite the fact that Campbell had never actually pleaded a claim for specific performance. (R. p. 54-62.) This was the first time the issue of specific performance had been raised or asserted. There is no evidence in the record of Campbell pursuing a claim of specific performance. The District Court ultimately ruled against Campbell on her other causes of action. However, these alternative causes of action are not presently before the Court. (R. p. 281-85.) Parkway now appeals from the District Court's decision.

3. Statement of Facts

The facts from the trial in this matter are relatively undisputed as it applies to the issues on appeal. In 2002, Campbell was an employee of Bingham Memorial Hospital (hereafter referred to as "BMH"). (R. p. 84-85.) Campbell had entered into a Forgivable Loan Agreement with BMH wherein \$6,800.00 was paid to Campbell for tuition to her nursing program in exchange for certain employment commitments with BMH. (R. p. 85.) The \$6,800.00 was to be repaid in three (3) annual installments over three (3) years. (Exhibit A.) The first installment was to be paid, "on the first day of the month following the anniversary of Student Nurse's graduation from Nursing School, or in the case Student Nurse fails to graduate, the first day of the month following her/his discontinuation of the nursing program." The agreement, however, also contained a provision that if Campbell was a full time employee of BMH "for at least twelve (12) months prior to the date of any of the three payments, the installment payment shall be forgiven." (Id.) Further, the agreement provided that "In the event, [Campbell] is employed full time for a portion of the twelve month period, the installment payment shall be reduced pro rata." (Id.) It is undisputed that Campbell began working for BMH in 2000 and quit working for them in May 2003.

On or about May 27, 2005, Campbell began working for Parkway. (R. p. 86.) Campbell was an at-will employee at Parkway. (R. p. 88.) As part of her employment,

Campbell was told that her obligation with BMH under the Forgivable Loan Agreement would be "taken care of." (R. p. 86.) The trial court made the factual finding that Parkway "assured her, in general terms 'that the obligation would be taken care of,' with no mention of any further conditions or restrictions relating to the payment of that obligation." (*Id.*) Campbell left employment with Parkway in March 25, 2005. (*Id.*) At the date of filing the Complaint in this matter, Campbell asserted that she had "incurred damages and will continue to incur damages." (R. p. 18.) As of the date of trial, however, BMH had not pursued any action against Campbell, and neither Campbell nor Parkway had paid anything to BMH. (R. at 86; Trial Transcript, p. 60, l. 21 – p. 61, l. 2.)

4. Standard of Review

This Court is being asked to review the District Court's decision after the District Court sat in its appellate capacity over the magistrate judge's decision. Accordingly, the standard of review by this Court is as follows:

The Supreme Court reviews the trial court (magistrate) record to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings. If those findings are so supported and the conclusions follow therefrom and if the district court affirmed the magistrate's decision, [the Supreme Court] affirms the district court's decision as a matter of procedure. Thus, [the Supreme Court] does not review the decision of the magistrate court. Rather, [the Supreme Court is] procedurally bound to affirm or reverse the decisions of the district court.

Pelayo v. Pelayo, 154 Idaho 855, 858-59, 303 P.3d 214, 217-218 (2013).

An issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, if it was not previously presented to the trial judge. *See, e.g., McPheters v. Maile*, 138 Idaho 391, 397, 64 P.3d 317, 323 (2003). "Appellate court review is limited to the evidence, theories and arguments that were presented [in the lower court]. In order to preserve an issue for appeal, the issue must be raised in the [lower court] ... Appellate courts follow this rule because it would be unfair to overrule the [lower court] on issues not presented to it on which it did not have an opportunity to rule." *Wattanbarger v. A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc.*, 150 Idaho 308, 323-24, 246 P.3d 961, 967-77 (2010) (internal citations omitted).

II. ISSUES RAISED ON APPEAL

The Issues on Appeal are as follows:

- A. Whether the District Court erred in ruling that Campbell was entitled to judgment on her breach of contract claim;
- B. Whether the District Court erred in ruling that Campbell and/or BMH was entitled to an award of damages on Campbell's breach of contract claim;
- C. Whether Campbell was entitled to relief (e.g., specific performance) based on evidence, arguments and/or authorities that Campbell had not presented or argued;

- D. Whether the District Court erred by ruling that the statute of frauds was inapplicable;
- E. Whether the Magistrate and District Courts erred in awarding Campbell attorney fees and costs.
- F. Whether the Magistrate and District Courts erred in failing to award Parkway attorney fees and costs.
- G. Whether Parkway is entitled to attorney fees and costs on appeal to the Supreme Court.

III. ARGUMENT

1. Campbell Lacks Standing

Applying the undisputed facts to well-settled Idaho law, the Court must conclude that Campbell does not have standing in this matter. Campbell has not demonstrated that she suffered any injury whatsoever, much less the requisite distinct and palpable injury. Further, her efforts to litigate a remedy for a third-party, Bingham Memorial Hospital (BMH), are also barred under the established standing analysis. Therefore the decisions of the Magistrate Judge, as well as the District Judge on Appeal, must be reversed.

Whether a litigant has standing is a jurisdictional issue that must be addressed even if it was not raised or address by the trial court. *Beach Lateral Water Users Assoc.*

v. Harrison, 142 Idaho 600, 603, 130 P.3d 1138, 1141 (2006). Standing is an issue over which this court exercises free review. Citibank (South Dakota), N.A. v. Carroll, 148 Idaho 254, 257, 220 P.3d 1073, 1076 (2009). The issue of whether a party has standing to assert a particular claim should be resolved before the merits of the claim are reached. Id. at 259, 220 P.3d at 1078. Standing is a matter of justiciability along with ripeness and mootness. Blankenship v. Washington Trust Bank, 153 Idaho 292, 295, 281 P.3d 1070, 1073 (2012). "Standing focuses on the party seeking relief and not the issues the party wishes to have adjudicated." Martin v. Camas County, 150 Idaho 508, 513, 248 P.3d 1243, 1248 (2011) (quoting Young v. City of Ketchum, 137 Idaho 102, 104-05, 44 P.3d 1157, 1159-60 (2002)).

In order to satisfy the case and controversy requirement of standing, the litigant "must allege or demonstrate an injury in fact and a substantial likelihood the relief requested will prevent or redress the claimed injury." *Id.* The requirement that the litigant show an "injury in fact" mandates that the litigant demonstrate two separate facts: (1) a distinct and palpable injury, and (2) a fairly traceable causal connection between the claimed injury and the challenged conduct. *Id.* The term "palpable" in this context has been defined by this Court as "[e]asily perceptible, plain, obvious, readily visible, noticeable, patent, distinct, manifest." *Id.* at footnote 3 (*quoting Black's Law Dictionary*, 1110 (6th ed. 1990)).

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON APPEAL - PAGE 12

Applying these well-settled principles to the undisputed facts in the record, Campbell does not have standing in this matter. First, it is undisputed that Campbell has not suffered any injury. This issue of whether Campbell suffered injury was argued both before the Magistrate Division of the District Court (R. p. 96-100.), as well as before the District Court, under established principles of contract law that a party cannot bring suit for breach of contract when the party has not been injured. (R. p. 105-08, 127-44.) Bergkamp v. Martin, 114 Idaho 650, 653, 759 P.2d 941, 944 (Ct. App. 1998). The District Court agreed with this legal mandate, and found that Campbell had not been injured. The District Court held, "Campbell is not entitled to recover the amount of the debt personally ..." and that "Campbell is not entitled to a direct money judgment against Parkway" (R. p. 237.) Instead, the District Court determined, sua sponte, that Campbell was actually seeking specific performance to recover damages for a thirdparty, and the District Court's focus proceeded to Campbell's ability to recover under that theory. (R. p. 236.)

As discussed above, however, the standing analysis does not focus on the underlying legal claims, or even the remedy sought. Instead, the standing analysis focuses on the party, in this case Campbell, and whether she herself suffered an injury in fact, by demonstrating a distinct and palpable injury and a causal connection between the injury and conduct. Applying the legal framework of *Blankenship v. Washington*

Trust Bank, and Martin v. Camas County, supra, Campbell does not have a injury in fact, much less a distinct and palpable injury, and therefore does not have standing.

When this action was first brought, Campbell alleged in her Complaint that she had been damaged "in the amount of \$6,800.00 in addition to interest and attorney fees" and that Campbell "will continue to incur damages." (R. p. 18.) It was upon these assertions that Campbell pursued this litigation. The record, however, reveals that Campbell never was, nor ever has been, actually damaged by Parkway. The evidence in the record of this undisputed fact comes from Campbell's own sworn testimony. At the trial, Campbell admitted that she had never received any demand letter from BMH and had, in fact, paid nothing on the agreement with BMH.

- Q. (BY MR. SORENSEN) You've never received a demand letter from any attorney for the hospital or the foundation to repay this obligation; is that correct?
- A. That is correct.
- Q. And so at this point, you have paid nothing on this obligation?
- A. That is correct.

(Trial Transcript at p. 60, L. 21 - P. 61, L. 1) (emphasis added).

The admission by Campbell that she has not suffered any injury is fatal to her standing to bring this action. Campbell has not suffered a distinct and palpable injury and thus cannot demonstrate an "injury in fact" as required by Idaho law. Accordingly, her claims must be dismissed.

There are, admittedly under Idaho law, situations where a party can litigate a

claim for a third-party. One such example is in the case of *State v. Doe*, 148 Idaho 919, 231 P.3d 1016 (2010). In *Doe*, this Court addressed the situation where the plaintiff argued that the curfew statute was unconstitutional because it infringed on parents' liberty interest in directing the upbringing of their children. *Id.* at 936, 231 P.3d at 1033. This Court, however, dismissed the action because then plaintiff lacked standing. *Id.* This Court laid out the rationale for this ruling as follows:

Courts must hesitate before resolving the rights of those not parties to litigation. Even though a potentially illegal action may affect the litigant as well as a third party, the litigant may not rest his claims on the rights or legal interests of the third party. A party challenging the constitutionality of a statute must not only demonstrate some injury from the unconstitutional aspect of the statute, but also that he is in the class of persons protected by that constitutional interest. This requirement is based on the presumption that the third parties themselves are the best proponents of their own rights.

Id. (citations omitted). Accordingly, the Idaho Supreme Court adopted the three-party analysis enunciated in the United States Supreme Court case of *Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400, 411, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 1370–71, 113 L.Ed.2d 411, 425–26 (1991), as follows:

[T]he U.S. Supreme Court requires a litigant who seeks to assert the rights of another party to demonstrate three interrelated criteria: (1) he must have suffered injury in fact, providing a significantly concrete interest in the outcome of the matter in dispute; (2) he must have a sufficiently close relationship to the party whose rights he is asserting; and (3) there must be a demonstrated bar to the third parties' ability to protect their interests.

Ultimately, this Court held that Doe "failed to demonstrate any bar to his father's ability to challenge the constitutionality of the Ordinance." *Id.* at 937, 231 P.3d at 1034.

Likewise, in this case there is insufficient evidence that Campbell can meet prong one and three of the *Powers* test, and therefore she does not have standing to enforce the rights of BMH. As to the first prong, discussed extensively above, Campbell has not suffered an injury in fact herself. As to the third prong, there is no "demonstrated bar" to BMH ability to protect its own interests. There is no evidence in the record showing that BMH lacked knowledge of their rights or were in some respect prevented from protecting their interests. Accordingly, Campbell does not have standing to bring litigation on behalf of BMH.

The recent case of *Arambarri v. Armstrong*, 152 Idaho 734, 274 P.3d 1249 (2012) is instructive. In *Arambarri*, the plaintiff sought reinstatement of his employment, as well as three other fellow employees. The defendant contested the plaintiff's standing on various grounds. *Id.* at 738, 274 P.3d at 1253. This Court applied the legal framework of *Martin v. Camas County*, 150 Idaho 508, 248 P.3d 1243 (2011) concluding that the plaintiff himself had standing because he had alleged "sufficient injury in fact, traceability and redressibility with regard to his request for damages for his lost wages and benefits." *Id.* As such, the claims were "personal to Arambarri and have adversely impacted him." *Id.* The Court went on, however, to hold that the plaintiff did not have standing to challenge the defendant's actions in relation to the other three employees. *Id.* at 738-39, 274 P.3d at 1253-54.

Similarly, in this case Campbell does not have standing to pursue claims and redress for third-party, especially in light of the fact that she herself did not suffer any injury in fact. Although there may be speculation as to what, if any, injury BMH may have suffered, such conjecture is not established in the record and in no event confers standing upon Campbell. *See State v. Doe, supra.* To hold otherwise would open the door to judicial vigilantism where individuals that have not been damaged pursue claims for third-parties, even when such third-parties are entirely capable of doing so themselves and have chosen not to do so. There has been no adjudication that there was any obligation to BMH, only a "Forgivable Loan Agreement" that might at some point give rise to an obligation. There is simply no evidence that BMH was damaged or could not protect their rights. Accordingly, Campbell does not have standing to litigate for and on behalf of BMH.

2. <u>Campbell Received All Of The Benefit Of The Bargain With Parkway, Which Did Not Include Mandating The Manner In Which Parkway Took Care Of Any Obligation, Should It Have Arisen.</u>

The record is clear that Campbell obtained all the benefit that she bargained for under the purported agreement with Parkway. As discussed above, there is very little detail of such agreement (hence the need for a Statute of Frauds). The agreement was simply that the obligation with BMH would be "taken care of."

It is undisputed that the representations to Campbell at the time she was hired by

Parkway was only that the obligation "would be taken care of." Campbell testified, "I started work at Parkway May 27th, 2003, and they said the loan would be taken care of." (Trial Transcript at P. 88, ll. 18-19).

Nanette Hirschi, who was with Art McCracken when the offer was made, testified similarly. Ms. Hirschi was the Director of Nursing at Parkway. (Trial Transcript at P. 111, ll. 4-5). Ms. Hirschi testified that the terms of employment for Campbell were very limited:

Q. Okay. And so what were the terms of that offer, just to be clear, that you could offer to Michelle?

A. That there was a dollar amount for her hourly wage, that she was a full-time employee, and that her scholarship would be taken care of.

(Trial Transcript at P. 124, Il. 17-22). She also testified that one of the methods contemplated to "take care of" Campbell's obligation was to wait and see if BMH actually attempted to enforce the agreement with Campbell. Ms. Hirschi testified of the internal conversation of Parkway as follows:

I remember one of them -- I don't remember which one -- saying "Well, we need to do whatever -- whatever we need to do to get Michelle. And if we need to pay back her scholarship, we'll pay back her scholarship."

And I remember somebody making the comment "Bingham probably won't come after her."

And I can remember saying "But if they do, we'll be responsible. It will need to be taken care of."

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