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

#### VI. ARGUMENT

#### A. CAMPBELL HAS STANDING

#### 1. Parkway Was Required to Present its Standing Argument to the District Court.

For the first time, Parkway claims in its opening brief that Campbell lacks standing to bring her breach of contract claim. Generally, a challenge to subject-matter jurisdiction can be raised for the first time on appeal. *See Blankenship v. Wash. Trust Bank*, 153 Idaho 292, 295, 281 P.3d 1070, 1073 (2012). However, this is not Parkway's first appeal, but its second. Under the standard of review, this Court sits as a reviewing Court over the District Court's appellate decision. *See Bailey v. Bailey*, 153 Idaho 526, 529, 284 P.3d 970, 973 (2012). As a result, this Court is "procedurally bound to affirm or reverse the decisions of the district court." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Korn*, 148 Idaho 413, 415 n.1, 224 P.3d 480, 482 n.1 (2009)). As a result of the procedural restrictions as a secondlevel appellate reviewing Court, Parkway was required to raise its standing argument to the District Court to preserve it. As a result, the claim should be dismissed.

# 2. Parkway Should Be Estopped from Contesting Campbell's Standing When it Sought the Jurisdiction of the Court on its Counterclaim and Cross-Claim.

Parkway's actions prevent it from asserting that Campbell lacked standing. First, a motion under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b) is the avenue for contesting the lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *See* Idaho R. Civ. P. 12(b). Parkway never brought a motion to dismiss contesting Campbell's standing. Second, in its Answer to the Second Amended Complaint, Parkway failed to include as an affirmative defense that Campbell lacked standing. (R., p. 68) A failure to assert an affirmative defense before trial is generally a bar to raising the issue at a later time. *See Guzman v. Piercy*, 155 Idaho 928, 935, 318 P.3d 918, 925 (2013). Third, Parkway asserted a counterclaim against Campbell, admitting that it did have an agreement with Campbell for the repayment of the Loan, but under different terms than those asserted by Campbell. (R., p. 69-72). In addition, Parkway asserted a cross-claim against McCracken, claiming he did not have authority to offer Campbell payment of the Loan. (R., p. 34-35). After losing on its counterclaim and its cross-claim (R., p. 88-89), Parkway now seeks to contest the jurisdiction of the Court.

Parkway cannot contest the jurisdiction of the Court when it is the defendant, and seek the jurisdiction of the Court when it is the plaintiff — all on the basis of a contractual agreement associated with the repayment of Campbell's Loan. Understandably, Campbell cannot find a single case where a defendant has both contested standing of the plaintiff in a breach of contract action, and asserted a counterclaim, admitting that an agreement existed but that the terms were different. Parkway seeks to take inconsistent positions to suit its purposes in the litigation. It certainly understood the Magistrate Court had subject matter jurisdiction when it counterclaimed against Campbell and cross-claimed against McCracken. The doctrine of judicial estoppel prevents Parkway from contesting the jurisdiction of the Magistrate Court. "Judicial estoppel, sometimes also known as the doctrine of preclusion of inconsistent positions, precludes a party from gaining an advantage by taking one position, and then seeking a second advantage by taking an incompatible position."

Sword v. Sweet, 140 Idaho 242, 252, 92 P.3d 492, 502 (2004) (quoting *Rissetto v. Plumbers and Steamfitters Local 343*, 94 F.3d 597, 600 (9th Cir.1996)). As quoted from *Rissetto* in *Sword* by this Court, "[t]he policies underlying preclusion of inconsistent positions are general considerations of the orderly administration of justice and regard for the dignity of judicial proceedings.... Judicial estoppel is intended to protect against a litigant playing fast and loose with the courts.... Because it is intended to protect the dignity of the judicial process, it is an equitable doctrine invoked by a court at its discretion." *Id.* Parkway's argument that Campbell did not have standing when it admitted it had a contractual agreement with her and filed a counterclaim and cross-claim, should be disregarded by this Court.

#### 3. As a Party to the Agreement, Campbell Has Standing.

Campbell, as a party to the contract with Parkway, has standing to bring this action to contest Parkway's breach of contract by its failure to pay Campbell's debt to the BMH Foundation. In its efforts to contest a straightforward breach of contract claim, Parkway asserts Campbell has no standing, claiming that Campbell suffered no injury from Parkway's refusal to pay a debt she incurred only as a result of leaving her employment with BMH to work for Parkway. Most disturbing is Parkway's claim that the District Court on appeal ruled that Campbell was not injured. (Appellant's Brief, p. 13 ("The District Court agreed with this legal mandate and found that Campbell had not been injured.")). The District Court's first conclusion of law was as follows: "1. Campbell sustained an injury recoverable under contract law." (R., p. 251). The District Court specifically found that Parkway was liable for the breach of contract and the remedy was specific performance: "Regardless of whether the applicable statute of limitations now bars the Foundation from suing Campbell on the Forgivable Loan Agreement, Parkway's promise to 'take care of' Campbell's debt created an enforceable duty which may be remedied by specific performance." (R., p. 236). Parkway essentially argues that unless Campbell actually paid off the Loan and incurred out-of-pocket money damages, she has no standing. Parkway simply ignores the evidence that Campbell altered her position as a result of Parkway's promise by leaving BMH, which caused her to incur a repayment obligation of the Loan.

Parkway disregards its contractual relationship with Campbell in its standing analysis, and instead, claims Campbell has no injury, confusing the injury necessary for standing with the obligation of proving damages as an element of a claim of breach of contract. "When an issue of standing is raised, the focus is not on the merits of the issues raised, but upon the party who is seeking relief. Indeed, a party can have standing to bring an action, but then lose on the merits." *Bagley v. Thomason*, 149 Idaho 806, 808, 241 P.3d 979, 981 (2010). Further, Campbell's demonstration of a breach of contract would entitle her to nominal damages, even if she could not recover the amount of the Loan or was not entitled to specific performance. *See Davis v. Gage*, 106 Idaho 735, 739, 682 P.2d 1282, 1286 (1984); RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS, § 305, cmt. a.

"To satisfy the requirement of standing, a litigant must allege an injury in fact, a fairly traceable causal connection between the claimed injury and the challenged conduct, and a substantial likelihood that the judicial relief requested will prevent or redress the claimed injury." *Troutner v. Kempthorne*, 142 Idaho 389, 391, 128 P.3d 926, 928 (2006). Campbell has both pled and proven that she has been injured by Parkway's breach of contract. Campbell has consistently alleged that

Parkway injured her by inducing her to leave her employment with BMH with its promise that Parkway would pay her debt to the Foundation — a debt that would not have arisen if Campbell had stayed employed with BMH. Both the Magistrate Court and District Court agreed that Parkway breached the agreement and Campbell was injured thereby. In her Second Amended Complaint, Campbell set forth the terms of her agreement with Parkway, Parkway's breach by its failure and refusal upon demand to pay the debt incurred, and the injury caused to her in incurring a debt. (R., p. 54-64). In her prayer for relief, Campbell asked for "a declaratory judgment ordering Defendant to pay to Bingham Memorial the principal amount of \$6,800.00 plus interest to be determined upon judgment, or in the alternative, for a money judgment in the principal amount of \$6,800.00 plus an award of interest in an amount to be determined upon judgment." (R., p. 61). Based on the pleadings, Campbell has clearly demonstrated privity of contract with Parkway and has alleged an injury as a result of the breach necessary to establish standing.

Parkway can only make its argument that a person in privity of contract with the opposing party has no standing to assert a breach of contract claim by ignoring Idaho Supreme Court authority on standing in the context of a party to a contract. Parkway has not cited to a single case wherein a party to a contract at issue in the lawsuit did not have standing. Idaho Supreme Court authority has made it very clear who has standing to enforce the terms of a contract:

It is axiomatic in the law of contract that a person not in privity cannot sue on a contract. "Privity" refers to "those who exchange the [contractual] promissory words or those to whom the promissory words are directed. Calemari and Perillo, Contracts § 17–1 (2d ed. 1977); see generally 4 Corbin on Contracts § 778 (1951). Here, plaintiffs-appellants are not parties to the prior lease between Montierth and San Tan, and hence they have no privity and cannot sue to enforce the terms of that prior contract. A party must look to that person with whom he is in a direct

contractual relationship for relief, in the event that his expectations under the contract are not met. *Pierson v. Sewell*, 97 Idaho 38, 45, 539 P.2d 590, 597 (1975); *Minidoka County v. Krieger*, 88 Idaho 395, 399 P.2d 962 (1965); *Coburn v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.*, 86 Idaho 415, 387 P.2d 598 (1963).

*Wing v. Martin*, 107 Idaho 267, 272, 688 P.2d 1172, 1177 (1984) (emphasis added). Campbell brought this action against Parkway, the very party that promised to pay her Loan with the BMH Foundation in exchange for her agreement to end her employment with BMH and work for Parkway. In spite of Campbell's privity of contract with Parkway, it argues that the cause of action actually belongs to the BMH Foundation and not to Campbell. Although the BMH Foundation may have been able to enforce the agreement as a third-party beneficiary, Campbell still has standing to enforce the agreement made for her benefit. The RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 305 makes it clear Campbell, as the promisee, has a right to enforce the agreement: "(1) A promise in contract creates a duty in the promisor to the promisee to perform the promise even though he also has a similar duty to an intended beneficiary." Further, § 307 directly indicates that "either the promisee or the beneficiary may maintain a suit for specific performance of a duty owed to an intended beneficiary." RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS, § 307.

Instead of citing the straightforward cases that make it clear a party to a contract can sue to enforce its own agreement, Parkway cites to *State v. Doe*, a case in which a minor sought standing to contest the constitutionality of a statute on the grounds that it infringed upon his parents' rights. 148 Idaho 919, 936, 231 P.3d 1016, 1033 (2010). *State v. Doe* has no applicability to Campbell's situation. Parkway also cites to *Arambarri v. Armstrong*, 152 Idaho 734, 738-39, 274 P.3d 1249, 1254 (2012), in which a former employee sought reinstatement for himself, and for three other

employees who were not parties to the action. *See id.* This Court rejected that standing existed for the three employees not a party to the action. *See id.* Parkway compares this case to Campbell, attempting to claim that she is in the same position as one of the three other employees. Again, Parkway ignores that Campbell is a party to the contract, making these other cases completely inapplicable. Parkway's promise to pay Campbell's Loan in order to obtain her as its employee was a promise made to and for the benefit of Campbell. Campbell's lawsuit to force Parkway to do exactly as it promised is not "judicial vigilantism" as asserted by Parkway (Appellant's Brief, p. 17), but Campbell's longstanding effort to force Parkway to honor its promise. As a party to the agreement, Campbell has standing to compel Parkway to perform its obligation under the agreement.

### B. PARKWAY'S ARGUMENT THAT IT TOOK CARE OF THE LOAN BY DOING NOTHING WAS REJECTED BY THE DISTRICT COURT, AND THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

In this appeal, Parkway again argues that there was never any agreement that Parkway would actually pay off Campbell's debt to the BMH Foundation, but that it could deal with the debt however it wanted, including "paying the amount immediately, paying the obligation in installment payments, negotiating a compromise settlement of the obligation, off-setting the amount against another debt, or simply waiting to see if BMH elected to pursue an action under its contract." (Appellant's Brief, p. 23). Not only did Parkway present no evidence that this was the case, Parkway's assertion is yet another example of Parkway's shifting attempts to avoid its obligation to Campbell. Parkway's first position is this case was that the agreement with Campbell was that Parkway stepped into the shoes of BMH, meaning that Campbell's debt to the BMH Foundation. (R.,

p. 30). When Parkway realized it had no evidence to support that position, Parkway then switched its stance. Having been unsuccessful with that argument, on appeal to the District Court, Parkway argued, as it does now, that it could "take care of" the debt however it wanted. (R., p. 142 and Appellant's Brief, p. 23). Parkway's shifting position with regard to the terms of the agreement further bolster the Magistrate Court's finding of fact, supported by substantial, competent evidence in the record, that, consistent with Campbell's position throughout this case, the agreement between Campbell and Parkway was that if Campbell came to work for Parkway, Parkway would pay off the debt incurred by Campbell by leaving BMH. Moreover, Parkway's argument ignores the applicable standard of review, asking this Court to overturn the Magistrate Court's determination, based upon the evidence presented at trial, that Parkway agreed to repay Campbell's loan to the BMH Foundation in exchange for Campbell coming to work for Parkway. (R., p. 87-88). This Court does not review the decision of the Magistrate Court, but the decision by the District Court. *See Bailey v. Bailey*, 153 Idaho 526, 529, 284 P.3d 970, 973 (2012).

Parkway completely sidesteps this standard, and instead invites this Court to second guess the Magistrate Court's findings of fact and conclusions of law, raising evidence it claims is contrary to the Magistrate Court's determination. Of course, in doing so, Parkway, ignores the substantial, competent evidence presented by Campbell at trial, which contradicts Parkway's theory of the case. Campbell presented testimony upon which the Magistrate Court based its decision, indicating that Parkway understood and agreed that "taking care of" the loan meant paying the loan off for Campbell. Hirschi, who was Director of Nursing, an officer position, at the time Parkway entered into the agreement with Campbell, testified:

| (Ms. Ulrich)                 | Q.                         | So was the decision made at that meeting to hire Ms. Campbell?  |
|------------------------------|----------------------------|---|
| (Hirschi)                    | A.<br>Q.<br>A.<br>Q.<br>A. | Yes, it was.<br>And to pay off her loan for her?<br>(Nonverbal answer.)<br>Can you verbalize that?<br>Yes.  |
| (Mr. Manwaring)<br>(Hirschi) | Q.<br>A.<br>Q.<br>A.       | <ul> <li>***</li> <li>And how was it stated in her interview?</li> <li>That Parkway would take care of her obligation.</li> <li>Okay. When you say "take care of it," does that mean</li> <li>Parkway would pay.</li> </ul> |

(Tr., p. 124, L. 5-11; p. 138, L. 17-22). Likewise, McCracken, Administrator/CFO for Parkway at

the time, testified:

| (Mr. Sorensen) | Q. | Okay. And as far as you knew, the board hadn't authorized you to say "We're going to give you \$6,800 if you come work for us?"                            |
|----------------|----|--|
| (McCracken)    | A. | No. That wasn't the authorization at all. It was<br>authorization to extend employment under the agreement<br>that they would take care of her obligation. |
|                | Q. | Okay. By taking care of the obligation, do you mean that<br>if the obligation – if there did exist an obligation, it would<br>be paid by Parkway?          |
|                | A. | Yes.   |

(Tr., p. 181, L. 25 - p. 182, L. 9). The letters that Hirschi and McCracken wrote on behalf of Campbell when Parkway refused to pay off Campbell's debt after BMH contacted Campbell about the nonpayment of the debt also demonstrates that Parkway agreed to actually pay off Campbell's debt. (Tr., p. 138, L. 19, Ex. D; p. 171, L. 11, Ex. F). Campbell's testimony likewise indicates that the agreement was that Parkway actually pay Campbell's debt which was incurred as a result of her leaving BMH to work for Parkway. (Tr., p. 27, L. 3 - p. 28, L. 19). The testimony from Parkway's

own agents constitutes more than substantial and competent evidence in the record to support the Magistrate Court's decision and the District Court's decision affirming the Magistrate Court.

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